COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 SEP -3 PM 1:03 STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 47316-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION BY COF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPUTY

# BUSINESS SERVICES OF AMERICA II, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

# WAFERTECH LLC,

Respondent.

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Eric R. Hultman, WSBA #17414 Hultman Law Office 218 Main St., #477 Kirkland, WA 98033 (425) 943-0649

Attorney for Appellant Business Service America II, Inc.

##

#### A. Introduction

This appeal addresses the issue of whether a mechanic's lien claimant (plaintiff Business Service America II, Inc., referred to as "BSA II") may obtain a recovery for work valued at over \$1.1 million.

The owner (defendant WaferTech LLC) understandably does not want to pay. WaferTech obtained two prior dismissals from the trial court, both of which this court unanimously reversed.

The current appeal arose out of a summary judgment on WaferTech's affirmative defense of setoff. WaferTech bases its setoff defense on a \$2.4 million recovery BSA II obtained from another defendant. However, that defendant was potentially liable for \$3.5 million in damages that BSA II cannot recover from WaferTech. Our Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that setoff is only available to prevent a plaintiff from a double recovery of the same damages. *Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.*, 142 Wn.2d 654, 675, 15 P.3d 115 (2000); *Puget Sound Energy, Inc. v. Alba General Ins. Co.*, 149 Wn.2d 135, 142, 68 P.3d 1061 (2003). The \$2.4 million BSA II recovered from the settling defendant partially compensated it for the \$3.5 million in damages for which WaferTech is not liable, so there will be no double recovery of the same damages to which setoff would apply.

The remaining issues have to do with a misnomer of BSA II and attorney's fees. The misnomer did not prejudice WaferTech, so it can be corrected. The trial court's award of attorney fees to WaferTech will be vacated by a reversal of the summary judgment on setoff, and if not, the amount was excessive, as the trial court failed to exclude fees for unproductive work.

#### B. Assignments of Error

#### **Assignments of Error**

- 1. The trial court erred when it granted summary judgment to WaferTech and denied BSA II's motion for summary judgment, both on WaferTech's affirmative defense of setoff.
- 2. The trial court erred when it entered a final judgment in favor of WaferTech.
- 3. The trial court erred when it awarded WaferTech \$430,000 in fees as the prevailing party under RCW 60.04.181(3).
- 4. The trial court erred when it entered an order to show cause requiring BSA II to show cause regarding the existence of BSofA.
- 5. The trial court erred when it denied BSA II's request to require WaferTech to show cause regarding its knowledge that BSofA was a misnomer that had no effect on WaferTech.

- 6. The trial court erred when it denied BSA II's motion under CR 15, 25, and 60(a), to correct its name from BSofA to BSA II.
- 7. The trial court erred when it entered findings regarding BSofA, concluded that BSofA had no capacity to sue or be sued, and ruled that BSofA had no legal existence.
- 8. The trial court erred when it imposed attorney's fees of \$300 as sanctions against BSA II.

#### **Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error**

- 1. What is the standard of review of the granting of summary judgment and denial of motions based solely upon documentary evidence? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, and 4-7)
- 2. Is the plaintiff's recovery of \$2.4 million from the first defendant, at a time when the first defendant is potentially liable for at least \$3.5 million in damages not recoverable from the second defendant, setoff against the second defendant's liability to the plaintiff?

  (Assignment of Error No. 1)
- 3. Can a trial court resolve disputed issues of fact to adjudicate the amount of a lien claim as part of a motion to reduce a lien under RCW 60.04.081? (Assignment of Error No. 2)
- 4. Is the misnomer of a party an error which can be corrected under CR 15, 25 and 60(a)? (Assignments of Error Nos. 4-7)

- 5. Does a trial court abuse its discretion when it does not enter findings in support of its award and awards attorney's fees to a prevailing party for unproductive work, and awards fees as sanctions for a mistake that did not adversely affect the opposing party? (Assignments of Error Nos. 3 and 8)
- 6. Is the prevailing party on appeal in a lien foreclosure entitled to attorney fees on appeal? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1-8)

#### C. Statement of the Case

1. The project out of which action arises.

WaferTech is the owner of a semiconductor plant in Clark County.

CP 1. WaferTech contracted with M+W to construct the cleanroom portion of the plant. *Id.* M+W subcontracted certain work to Natkin/Scott. *Id.* 

M+W wrongfully terminated Natkin/Scott in April 1998. CP 103. Natkin/Scott recorded a lien for amounts it claimed it was owed, and initiated this action against M+W and WaferTech in Clark County Superior Court to recover amounts owed under its subcontract with M+W and to foreclose its lien against the WaferTech property. CP 1.

2. Assignment from Natkin/Scott to BSA II (not BSofA).

In 1999, Natkin/Scott assigned its claims in this action, including the lien claim against WaferTech, to BSA II. CP 707. The assignment

documents were provided to WaferTech in 2001. CP 697. The documents included: (1) "Sale and Servicing Agreement" between Natkin/Scott and BSA II; (2) "Promissory Note" from BSA II to Natkin/Scott; and (3) "Overview and Summary of Transaction" identifying Natkin/Scott's assignee as BSA II. *Id.* None of the assignment documents identified the assignee as "Business Services of America II, Inc." ("BSofA"). *Id.* Joe Guglielmo was the president of Scott Co., one of the joint venture partners in Natkin/Scott, and also president of BSA II, a Delaware corporation. CP 707.

WaferTech then deposed Natkin/Scott witnesses regarding the assignment, identifying the Sale and Servicing Agreement as a deposition exhibit. *Id.* During one deposition, WaferTech's counsel referred to the assignee as BSA II. *Id.* 

3. The trial court made rulings differentiating the damages the plaintiff could recover from each defendant.

The trial court entered a partial summary judgment providing that Natkin/Scott's damages against M+W would be measured by the reasonable direct costs of its work, plus a reasonable amount for overhead and profit. CP 106. WaferTech's expert calculated the amount of Natkin/Scott's reasonable direct costs, plus overhead and profit, for work through January 31, 1998, at over \$3.5 million. CP 534. He calculated

Natkin/Scott's costs for work after January 31, 1998, at \$1.1 million. *Id*. Natkin/Scott's expert calculated the post-January 31, 1998 recoverable costs at over \$3.2 million. Supp. CP (Sub No. 1080).

The trial court limited Natkin/Scott's lien claim to work performed after January 31, 1998, reducing the face amount of the lien to \$1.5 million, pursuant to RCW 60.04.081. *Id.*, Ex. 6. The trial court's only finding in support of the reduction was that a lien of \$7,654,454 was "clearly excessive," with the exact amount "still to be determined." *Id.* 

#### 4. Natkin/Scott and BSA II settled claims against M+W.

Natkin/Scott and BSA II settled the claims against M+W for \$2.4 million. *Id.*, Ex. 7. The recovery from M+W was intended to cover claims for which M+W, but not WaferTech, was responsible. CP 548.

BSA II submitted a proposed second amended complaint to WaferTech. CP 697. It incorrectly named the plaintiff/assignee as BSofA. *Id.* WaferTech's counsel objected to several provisions, but not to the name BSofA. *Id.* WaferTech eventually consented to filing of the second amended complaint with the plaintiff/assignee named BSofA. *Id.* 

WaferTech's answer to the second amended complaint admitted that the new plaintiff was Natkin/Scott's assignee. CP 319, Ex. 9. It asserted seventeen affirmative defenses, but did not assert that the plaintiff lacked capacity or standing to pursue the claims. *Id*.

WaferTech conducted a CR 30(b)(6) of the plaintiff regarding the settlement with M+W. *Id.*, Ex. 10.

# 5. <u>WaferTech offered exhibits at trial identifying</u> Natkin/Scott's assignee as BSA II, not BSofA.

Prior to trial in 2002, WaferTech identified Exhibits 899, 1016, and 1021. CP 151. These contained the Sale and Servicing Agreement, Promissory Note, Outline and Summary of Transaction, all identifying the assignee as BSA II. CP 697. These were all included in the clerk's final exhibit list. CP 196.

## 6. There were two dismissals reversed on appeal.

The 2002 trial ended with a dismissal that was reversed on appeal by this court. *BSofA v. WaferTech*, *LLC*, 2004 WL 444724 (Wn.App. Div. 2, March 9, 2004. After remand, the trial court dismissed the action on different grounds. Both this court and our Supreme Court reversed the trial court. *BSAofA v. WaferTech*, *LLC*, 159 Wn.App. 591, 245 P.3d 257 (2011), *aff* d 174 Wn.2d. 304, 274 P.3d 1025 (2012). BSA II was administratively dissolved in 2006.

#### 7. The trial court entered summary judgment on setoff.

After the second remand, at WaferTech's request, the trial court appointed a referee chosen by WaferTech. CP 562. The referee refused to serve. CP 608.

The trial court then entered summary judgment in favor of WaferTech on its affirmative defense of setoff, while denying BSA II's cross-motion on the same defense. CP 572.

WaferTech sought \$518,557 in fees as prevailing party under RCW 60.04.181(3). CP 579. WaferTech's counsel submitted a declaration showing it worked 1,443 hours. CP 590. BSA II's counsel worked 442 hours, for work on the same issues, which included a successful appeal reversing the trial court's 2009 dismissal. CP 608.

The trial court signed findings of fact and conclusions of law containing only conclusory findings and perfunctory conclusions regarding WaferTech's fees. CP 611. The trial court signed and filed the amended final judgment for \$430,000 in fees on September 20, 2013. CP 616. BSA II timely appealed. CP 604.

8. This court remanded on the issue of the appellant's name.

During the appeal of the summary judgment (Appeal No. 45325-8-II), WaferTech objected to the appeal being pursued in the name of BSofA. WaferTech's Motion to Dismiss Appeal, January 2, 2014.

BSA II moved under CR 60(a) to have the trial court correct the misnomer. CP 637, 669. The trial court refused. CP 690. BSA II timely appealed (Appeal No. 46138-2-II). CP 693. The two appeals were consolidated.

During oral argument, WaferTech's counsel conceded that but for BSA II's dissolution while the action was pending, WaferTech would have no basis to object to the amendment of the plaintiff's name from BSofA to BSA II. The colloquy with the court was as follows:

JUDGE MAXA: So that's what you're basing your argument on, so if BSA II was currently fully registered in Delaware, you think it would be an abuse of discretion to deny it [the CR 60(a) motion to correct the plaintiff's name] in that situation?

Mr. McDermott: I do, I agree with that. If it [BSA II] was an active, validly licensed, going concern company, we wouldn't have opposed it [the CR 60(a) motion], but they were trying to – the key difference is they're trying to correct in a void entity, void since 2003, defunct since 2006.

Excerpt of Oral Argument, September 12, 2014, pp. 5-6.

In its decision affirming the CR 60(a) denial, this court noted erroneously that the agreement assigning the lien claim was "never made part of the trial court record." Opinion dated October 21, 2014. It was part of Trial Ex. 899. Without the assignment, there was "a factual issue" as to whether BSofA was a misnomer for the assignee. *Id.* The agreement "could have clarified the issue" as to whether BSofA was a misnomer. *Id.* 

This court affirmed the CR 60(a) denial, but remanded for further proceedings. *Id.* This court never ruled on BSA II's appeal of the 2013 summary judgment regarding setoff. *Id.* 

Upon remand, BSA II moved under CR 15, 25, and 60(a) to correct the misnomer BSofA to BSA II. CP 732. It cited Trial Exs. 899, 1016, and 1021 regarding the assignment to BSA II, not BSofA. CP 697. Joe Guglielmo, a signatory to the assignment documents, explained under oath that Natkin/Scott assigned the claims to BSA II. CP 707. He was BSA II's president at the time of dissolution in 2006, and stated that BSA II is pursuing this litigation as part of the "winding up of its affairs." *Id*. BSA II's counsel explained how the misnomer occurred inadvertently, with WaferTech's participation. CP 697.

BSA II also requested a show cause order requiring WaferTech to show cause why the trial court should not enter findings regarding (1) WaferTech's knowledge since 2001 that Natkin/Scott's assignee was BSA II, not BSofA, and (2) WaferTech's lack of prejudice from the plaintiff being named BSofA rather than BSA II. CP 725.

The trial court denied the show cause request. CP 763. The trial court entered findings regarding BSofA and denied the CR 15, 25, and 60(a) motions to amend and correct the misnomer. CP 766. BSA II again timely appealed. CP 770.

While the appeal was pending, BSA II moved to expressly include Trial Exs. 899, 1016, and 1021, in the trial court record. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (Sub No. 1261). Instead of serving the correct motion on WaferTech,

BSA II mistakenly served a copy of a prior motion it had filed in this court to include the exhibits in the record, which had the Court of Appeals' caption. Supp. CP \_\_ (Sub No. 1263A). WaferTech said nothing until the day prior to the hearing, at which point BSA II served the correct motion and postponed the hearing. *Id.* At the hearing, the trial court sanctioned BSA II \$300 in attorney's fees for initially serving the wrong motion. Supp. CP (Sub. No. 1265).

## D. Summary of Argument

WaferTech is not entitled to setoff the \$2.4 million BSA II recovered from M+W against WaferTech's liability to BSA II. BSA II recovered different damages from M+W than BSA II can recover from WaferTech. Setoff is only applied to prevent a double recovery of the same damages.

Even if WaferTech was entitled a setoff, it was not entitled to summary judgment on BSA II's claim, given the factual dispute whether BSA II's claim exceeds the amount of the setoff.

The misnomer for BSA II is a pleading error which has not prejudiced WaferTech, so BSA II may correct it pursuant to CR 15, 25, and 60(a). BSA II, despite its dissolution, retains capacity to be a party.

Finally, even if these rulings stand, the trial court abused its discretion when it awarded attorney's fees to WaferTech for unproductive work.

#### E. Argument

1. This court reviews *de novo* the trial court decisions granting summary judgment and denying amendment, giving no deference to the trial court.

This court gives no deference to the trial court's summary judgment decisions on setoff. In reviewing a summary judgment decision, the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Roger Crane & Ass. v. Felice*, 74 Wn.App. 769, 773, 875 P.2d. 705 (1994). The court is obligated to accept the truth of the non-moving party's evidence and draw all reasonable favorable inferences in favor of that party. *Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Central Nat'l Ins. Co. of Omaha*, 126 Wn.2d 50, 98, 882 P.2d 703, 891 P.2d 718 (1994).

This court reviews *de novo* the trial court decisions related to the misnomer, which were all based solely on documentary evidence. Trial court decisions based on documentary evidence are reviewed *de novo*. *In re Rosier*, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986); *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595, 612, 612 P.2d 869 (1998).

2. There is no setoff where BSA II's recovery from M+W was for different damages than BSA II will recover from WaferTech.

The difference in the damages BSA II recovered from M+W and the damages BSA II may recover from WaferTech preclude any setoff. Equitable setoff is only imposed to prevent the plaintiff from a double-recovery of the same damages from two defendants. Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., supra; Puget Sound Energy, Inc. v. Alba General Ins. Co., supra.

Here, BSA II recovered \$2.4 million from M+W for damages arising out of Natkin/Scott's work throughout the WaferTech project.

Those damages included \$3.5 million in damages for work prior to

January 31, 1998. In contrast, BSA II's damages for its lien claim against

WaferTech are limited to work after January 31, 1998.

There can be no setoff in favor of WaferTech. Under setoff law, BSA II's entire \$2.4 million recovery from M+W compensates it for the \$3.5 million in damages for work prior to January 31, 1998, leaving nothing for setoff.

Our Supreme Court's application of setoff principles in Weyerhaeuser and Puget Sound Energy illuminates how to apply setoff to the present case. In Weyerhaeuser, a plaintiff obtained settlement funds from several insurers to cover environmental cleanup costs at several sites, which it did not allocate to specific sites. A non-settling insurer obligated to pay for cleanup at certain sites sought to setoff the settlement funds against its liability. 142 Wn.2d at 672. The burden was on the non-settling insurer to prove that the plaintiff had been made whole prior to any setoff. *Id.* at 675. The court held the non-settling insurer failed to show the plaintiff was "fully compensated" by the prior settlement, so there was no setoff. *Id.* 

Similarly, in *Puget Sound Energy, supra*, a plaintiff was also seeking recovery from several insurers for cleanup costs at various sites, and had obtained settlements from some insurers, which was not allocated to particular sites. Non-settling insurers sought to setoff the recovery from other insurers from their own liability. The Court of Appeals ruled that if the plaintiff allocated the settlement proceeds to sites for which the non-settling insurers were not liable, the burden would shift to the insurers to prove that the plaintiff had been fully compensated. *Puget Sound Energy v. Alba*, 109 Wn.App. 683, 695, 10 P.3d 445 (2000).

Our Supreme Court held that placing an allocation burden on the plaintiff was too onerous. *Puget Sound Energy v. Alba*, 149 Wn.2d at 141-2. It noted that in its decision in *Weyerhaeuser* it clarified that the non-settling defendant has the burden of showing the plaintiff has been made whole by prior settlement. *Id.* The plaintiff merely needed to show

"that the settlement proceeds at issue were secured by releasing risks broader than those at issue" in the action against the non-settling defendant. *Id.* at 142. The court held that as in *Weyerhaeuser*, the non-settling defendant failed to show the plaintiff had been made whole by prior settlement, so there was no setoff. *Id.* 

Our Supreme Court, in both *Weyerhaeuser* and *Puget Sound Energy*, made it clear that equitable setoff is not to be used to reduce a plaintiff's recovery until the plaintiff has been made whole. BSA II was not made whole by the recovery of \$2.4 million, as that only partially compensated BSA II for the \$3.5 million in damages for work prior to January 31, 1998. WaferTech was not entitled to any setoff.

In seeking setoff, WaferTech misconstrued the decision in *Eagle Point Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Coy*, 102 Wn.App. 697, 9 P.3d 898 (2000). There, a portion of settlement proceeds were setoff against the non-settling defendant's liability "to assure that [the plaintiffs] did not recover from both [the settling defendant] and [the non-settling defendant] for the same damage." 102 Wn.App. 702.

The manner in which the *Eagle Point* court differentiated between the portion of the \$65,000 settlement which for which the non-settling defendant was entitled to a setoff (\$55,000), and the portion for which setoff was not available (\$10,000), shows WaferTech is not entitled to a

setoff. The \$2.4 million BSA II recovered from M+W is comparable to the \$10,000 portion of the settlement proceeds in *Eagle Point* not available for setoff.

In *Eagle Point*, a condominium homeowners association and an individual unit owner sued both the developer and the contractor who constructed the condominiums. The plaintiffs settled with the contractor for \$65,000, which included \$10,000 in damages the plaintiffs could only recover from the contractor. The court imposed a \$55,000 setoff against the damages the plaintiffs proved at trial against the developer, as there was no way to allocate any of the \$55,000 to damages for which only the contractor was liable. 102 Wn.App. at 702-3.

Applying *Eagle Point* to the present action results in no setoff. In *Eagle Point*, the potential setoff was \$65,000, the settlement amount, while here the potential setoff is \$2.4 million. In *Eagle Point*, there were \$10,000 in damages for which the plaintiffs obtained recovery from the settling defendant but could not recover from the non-settling defendant, while here there were \$3.5 million in such damages (for work prior to January 31, 1998). In *Eagle Point*, the potential \$65,000 setoff was reduced by \$10,000, leaving \$55,000 for setoff, while here the potential \$2.4 million setoff must be reduced by \$3.5 million, leaving nothing for setoff.

The following chart summarizes the above analysis:

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