FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II

2015 OCT 26 PM 1:44

Cause No. 47316-0-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY Ca

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION DEPUTY  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

BUSINESS SERVICES OF AMERICA II, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

WAFERTECH LLC,

Respondent.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
FOR CLARK COUNTY  
HONORABLE DAVID B. GREGERSON

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

JAMES T. McDERMOTT  
WSBA No. 30883  
GABRIEL M. WEAVER  
WSBA No. 45831  
BALL JANIK LLP  
101 SW Main Street, Suite 1100  
Portland, OR 97204  
T: (503) 228-2525  
F: (503) 226-3910

HOWARD M. GOODFRIEND  
WSBA No. 14355  
SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.  
1619 8th Avenue North  
Seattle, WA 98109  
T: (206) 624-0974

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

#### **IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court's October 21, 2014 Opinion gave the trial court a very narrow mandate: to determine whether BSofA had any independent legal existence sufficient to allow BSofA to continue its appeal against WaferTech. The trial court did precisely as this Court directed, holding a show-cause hearing at which the trial court gave BSofA a full and fair opportunity to present evidence of its legal existence. BSofA declined to present any such evidence, effectively conceding that BSofA is a legal nullity. Consequently, on February 20, 2015, the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law establishing that BSofA had no independent legal existence and lacked the capacity to sue or be sued. This Court should affirm that ruling and dismiss BSofA's appeal.

BSofA's appeal ignores this Court's October 21, 2014 ruling by continuing to assert that BSofA is a misnomer for a long defunct Delaware

corporation. This Court has already rejected BSofA's "misnomer" argument four separate times, and this Court should do so again here. The "misnomer" issue has already been litigated through final appeal, and BSofA has not shown any reason why this Court should reconsider its earlier rulings.

If this Court is somehow inclined to entertain BSofA's misnomer argument (in spite of this Court's earlier rulings to the contrary and the substantial evidence showing that BSofA is not a misnomer), then this Court should not permit BSofA to substitute the defunct shell entity BSA II as plaintiff/appellant in BSofA's place. As a void, defunct shell entity, BSA II lacks capacity under Delaware law to be substituted in place of the long-named plaintiff, BSofA.

If this Court also decides to go even further and review the trial court's 2013 summary judgment order in WaferTech's favor on equitable setoff grounds, then this Court should affirm that order. BSofA sued M+W and WaferTech for the same injury, and both defendants faced the same potential liability. BSofA extracted a \$2.4 million settlement payment from M+W to settle a claim that was worth, at most, \$1.5 million. Any payment from WaferTech to BSofA would be an impermissible windfall for BSofA, and the trial court correctly applied the doctrine of equitable setoff to prevent any further recovery.

This Court also should affirm the trial court's award of attorney fees to WaferTech and award fees on appeal.

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. The Trial Court Properly Rejected BSofA's Misnomer Argument and Correctly Ruled that BSofA Lacks Legal Existence

The trial court, in its post-remand February 20, 2015 order, denied BSofA's CR 60(a) motion to correct a misnomer and found that BSofA lacks independent legal existence. The standard of review for an order under CR 60(a) is abuse of discretion. *In re Welfare of R.S.G.*, 172 Wn. App. 230, 243, 289 P.3d 708 (Div. II, 2012) ("We review a trial court's order vacating a validly entered prior court order under CR 60 for abuse of discretion.") The trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence. *Mitchell v. Washington State Institute of Public Policy*, 153 Wn. App. 803, 809, 225 P.3d 280 (2009). Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion, and the trial court's findings of fact are based on undisputed evidence.

BSofA incorrectly argues that this Court should review the trial court's post-remand rulings regarding the alleged misnomer *de novo* because the trial court's rulings were based on documentary evidence. BSofA Op. Br. at 12. But BSofA ignores the fact that this Court has already ruled that the proper standard of review for BSofA's CR 60(a)

motion is abuse of discretion. October 21, 2014 Opinion at 6, citing *Shaw v. City of Des Moines*, 109 Wn. App. 896, 900, 37 P.3d 1255 (2002); *Presidential Estates Apt. Assoc. v. Barrett*, 129 Wn.2d 320, 325-326, 917 P.2d 100 (1996). As this Court noted, “the trial court was faced with conflicting evidence as to whether BSofA or BSA II was the actual assignee [of Natkin/Scott’s claims against WaferTech] and therefore which entity was the correct plaintiff.” October 21, 2014 Opinion at 8. In order to evaluate whether the trial court committed error, this Court reviewed the evidence that the trial court considered in connection with BSofA’s “misnomer” argument, all of which was documentary in nature. *Id.* at 8-10. Ultimately, this Court concluded that “[b]ecause of the factual uncertainty as to whether there was an error in the judgment, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to change the plaintiff’s name.” *Id.* at 10.

Moreover, the two standard of review cases BSofA cites provide no support for BSofA’s argument that this Court should review the trial court’s decisions *de novo*. BSofA’s two proffered cases address only the standard of review for disputes arising out of the state’s Public Records Act, which expressly provides for judicial review of agency decisions and embodies a strong public policy in favor of disclosure of public records. *In re Rosier*, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986) (overruled by

statute, as acknowledged in *Amren v. City of Kalama*, 131 Wn.2d 25, 929 P.2d 389 (1997); *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595, 612, 963 P.2d 869 (1998). Put simply, this is not a Public Records Act case.

Consequently, nothing in either the *In re Rosier* or *Limstrom* cases changes the abuse of discretion standard of review applicable to CR 60(a) motions.

Notably, this Court has already rejected BSofA's misnomer argument on four separate occasions, beginning with this Court's October 21, 2014 Opinion. In that opinion, this Court affirmed the trial court's ruling that BSofA was not a misnomer. October 21, 2014 Opinion at 10. Nevertheless, this Court was unable to determine, from the then-existing record, whether BSofA had any independent legal existence sufficient to continue its appeal. *Id.* at 11. This Court, therefore, issued a narrowly-tailored mandate to the trial court to complete the record: "to determine BSofA's legal status and BSofA's ability to pursue its appeals against WaferTech." *Id.* at 14. BSofA unsuccessfully moved for reconsideration, arguing that this Court erred in rejecting BSofA's misnomer argument. November 26, 2014 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Motions to Supplement.

Even in the face of this Court's October 21, 2015 Opinion, BSofA continued to press its "misnomer" argument on remand. (CP 725, 732)

The trial court properly rejected BSofA's continuing effort to re-litigate this issue on the grounds that BSofA's "misnomer" argument was outside the scope of the mandate from this Court. February 19, 2015 Transcript of Proceedings at p. 15:13-17 (Judge Gregerson: "[T]he Court of Appeals' mandate specifically wants this Court to address what, if any, is the status of the named plaintiff in this proceeding and that will be the limited inquiry of the Court [at the show-cause hearing].") Accordingly, the trial court ordered BSofA to appear at a show-cause hearing to present evidence of BSofA's legal existence. (CP 761)

At the show cause hearing, BSofA refused to present any evidence. BSofA's counsel stated "I don't have any evidence that [BSofA] exists." February 20, 2015 Transcript of Proceedings at p. 6:8-10. At the conclusion of the show-cause hearing, the trial court fulfilled its mandate from this Court by entering findings of fact and conclusions of law establishing that BSofA had no legal existence and lacked the capacity to sue or be sued. (CP 766)

**B. BSofA's Continued Attempt to Re-Litigate the Misnomer Issue Violates the Law of the Case Doctrine**

BSofA's opening brief effectively asks this Court to reconsider and vacate its October 21, 2014 Opinion by ruling that BSofA is a misnomer for BSA II. BSofA's argument violates the law of the case doctrine by

attempting to reopen issues that have already been litigated through final appeal. *See, e.g., Humphrey Industries, Ltd. v. Clay Street Associates, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 662, 671, 295 P.3d 231 (2013) (on remand, it is error for a trial court to revisit issues that have already been decided by the appellate court.)<sup>1</sup>

Although BSofA may argue that this Court should revisit its October 21, 2014 Opinion and subsequent orders under RAP 2.5(c)(2), there is no cause for this Court to do so. The Washington Supreme Court has consistently ruled that “an appellate court may reconsider only those decisions that were clearly erroneous and that would work a manifest injustice to one party if the clearly erroneous decision were not set aside.” *State v. Worl*, 129 Wn.2d 416, 425, 918 P.2d 905 (1996) (holding that the law of the case doctrine barred the Court of Appeals from reconsidering an earlier ruling); *see also Folsom v. City of Spokane*, 111 Wn.2d 256, 265, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988) (appellate court can only reconsider its prior ruling if the prior ruling is clearly erroneous).

Here, BSofA has invited this Court to reconsider its October 21, 2014 Opinion on multiple occasions, but this Court has consistently declined to do so. Before filing its opening brief in this appeal, BSofA filed two separate motions in an attempt to persuade this Court to adopt

---

<sup>1</sup> BSofA did not petition the Washington Supreme Court for Review.



BSofA's misnomer theory. In BSofA's first motion, filed on May 14, 2015, BSofA asked this Court to correct the alleged misnomer in BSofA's name under RAP 7.3. This Court's commissioner denied BSofA's motion on June 18, 2015. Then, on July 6, 2015, BSofA moved to modify the commissioner's ruling, arguing—for the first time—that WaferTech had somehow "conceded" at oral argument that BSofA "was a misnomer that could be corrected." On August 18, 2015, this Court denied BSofA's motion. All told, this Court has squarely rejected BSofA's misnomer theory on four separate occasions. *See* October 21, 2014 Opinion; November 26, 2014 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration; June 18, 2015 Order; and August 18, 2015 Order. There has been no change in the evidence or in the state of the law that would justify reconsideration of this Court's October 21, 2014 Opinion. This Court's rejection of BSofA's misnomer argument is now law of the case and should not be subject to further review.

**C. As this Court has Previously Ruled, BSofA is not a Misnomer**

If, in spite of all its earlier rulings, this Court is inclined to revisit its October 21, 2014 Opinion, this Court should nonetheless reject BSofA's misnomer argument. In affirming the trial court's order denying BSofA's CR 60(a) motion, this Court acknowledged the existence of significant evidence showing that BSofA is not a misnomer. First, as this

Court noted, BSofA's second and third amended complaints alleged that BSofA (not BSA II) was the assignee of Natkin/Scott's claim against WaferTech. October 21, 2014 Opinion at 8.

Second, as this Court recognized, BSofA identified itself as BSofA in myriad pleadings and other filings since 2001. *Id.* at 9. This was not a one-time spelling error; BSofA held itself out as plaintiff in hundreds of pleadings over more than a decade of litigation. Third, a surety paid "earlier judgments for over \$800,000 in attorney fees against BSofA." *Id.* Finally, Joseph Guglielmo signed an acknowledgement, in his capacity as president of BSofA, that BSofA was the assignee of Natkin/Scott's claim against WaferTech. *Id.*

This Court concluded that this evidence made it uncertain whether there was an error in the judgment (*i.e.*, whether BSofA was merely a misnomer for BSA II). *Id.* at 9-10. Based on this factual uncertainty, this Court determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting BSofA's misnomer argument. *Id.* at 10.

BSofA's opening brief again argues that WaferTech somehow conceded at oral argument that BSofA is a misnomer. BSofA Op. Br. at 9. Not so. WaferTech's position now and at oral argument has been consistent: that BSofA failed to meet its burden of proving the existence of a misnomer pursuant to CR 60(a). Transcript of Oral Argument, at

24:10-16 (“But what I’m asking you to do is affirm the trial court’s refusal to allow the substitution under CR 60(a) and that—the plaintiff has the burden of that, the moving party, and they didn’t carry their burden in the trial court.”); 26:10-13 (“But again, the threshold issue for this court is whether the trial court CR 60(a) ruling was correct and should be affirmed under the abuse of discretion standard.”)

WaferTech took the same position in its responding brief to BSofA’s appeal of the trial court’s denial of BSofA’s CR 60(a) motion. Respondent’s Brief, Cause No. 46138-II, pp. 7-12. In short, WaferTech has never conceded that BSofA is a misnomer. BSofA had the burden of proof on that issue. The trial court previously concluded that BSofA failed to meet its burden, and this Court affirmed. October 21, 2014 Opinion at 1.

BSofA also improperly asks this Court to consider “new” documentary evidence that BSofA never presented to the trial court in support of BSofA’s CR 60(a) motions until after this Court issued its October 21, 2014 Opinion. BSofA Op. Br. at 5. Even if this Court were inclined to consider new evidence at this late stage, BSofA’s proffered documents are so riddled with inconsistencies and internal contradictions that they are meaningless for purposes of establishing the identity of Natkin/Scott’s assignee.

For example, the first page of Ex. 899, which purports to be an opinion letter from Natkin/Scott's attorneys regarding the sale of Natkin/Scott's litigation claims, identifies the buyer as "Business Service America, Inc." Joseph Guglielmo signed this letter on April 21, 1999 in his capacity as President and Chief Executive Officer of Scott Company of California, one of the two participants in the Natkin/Scott Joint Venture.

Page 5 of Ex. 899, which is a letter from Scott Co. to Wells Fargo regarding the sale, identifies the buyer slightly differently, as "Business Services America, Inc."

The sale and servicing agreement, beginning on page 6 of Ex. 899, identifies the buyer of Natkin/Scott's litigations claims as "Business Service America II, Inc., a *Georgia* corporation, whose address is 27012 Gardner Drive, Alpharetta, Georgia 30004." (Emphasis added). No such entity has ever been registered in Georgia. A person named Charles V. Litt, who identified himself as "President" of Business Service America II, signed the sale and servicing agreement on behalf of Business Service America II, which is dated July 23, 1999. If this "Business Service America II" is the same entity as the plaintiff in this case (allegedly a Delaware corporation), then Mr. Litt's signature as "President" contradicts the sworn testimony in the Guglielmo declaration that Mr. Guglielmo was president of BSA II from 1999-2006. *See* CP 708, 545. In his declaration,

Mr. Guglielmo attempts to explain this apparent discrepancy by stating that he “replaced Charles Litt as president sometime after July 23, 1999.”

Mr. Guglielmo offers no other details regarding the timing or reason of his succession to BSA II’s presidency.

Page 16 of Ex. 899, which is an agreement between the joint venture participants of Natkin/Scott, defines the buyer as “Business Service America, Inc.” But on page 17, which is an assignment agreement, and on page 18, which is a promissory note, the buyer is described as “Business Service America II, Inc., a Delaware Corporation” (again, with Mr. Litt as president).

All told, Ex. 899 describes the buyer of Natkin/Scott’s claim at least four different ways. Rather than adding clarity to the question of BSofA’s identity, Ex. 899 just muddies the water further. This Court recognized as much when it denied BSofA’s motion for reconsideration of the October 21, 2014 Opinion, and also denied BSofA’s post-remand appellate motions, all of which rely extensively on Ex. 899.

**D. The Trial Court Properly Rejected BSofA’s Attempt to Amend Its Complaint After This Court’s October 21, 2014 Opinion**

After this Court issued its October 21, 2014 Opinion, BSofA sought to amend its complaint and substitute the void entity BSA II as Plaintiff. (CP 725, 732) The trial court properly rejected BSofA’s motion

because the relief BSofA requested was outside the scope of the trial court's narrowly-tailored mandate, which was limited to determining BSofA's legal status and ability to continue its appeal. (CP 766) In addition, BSofA's attempt to substitute BSA II as plaintiff under CR 15 was premised on BSofA's "misnomer" argument, which the trial court and this Court have both repeatedly rejected.

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